
IN THE UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS  

FOR VETERANS CLAIMS 

 

GORDON A. GRAHAM,                        ) 

                       Petitioner,                       ) 

                                                               ) 

         v.                                                   )           Vet.App. No. 16-2098 

                                                               ) 

ROBERT A. MCDONALD,                     ) 

Secretary of Veterans Affairs,            ) 

                            Respondent.            ) 

 

Petitioner’s Rebuttal Of  Facts Pertaining  

To Declaration of David Boyd. 

Petitioner disputes the following contentions vehemently. 

II. (3). M28 reference refers to M-28 R (revised March 31, 2014). Petitioner’s 

greenhouse request was received by Seattle VR&E in the month of May 2011 

and thus falls under the prior M 28 version by almost three years. VA has always 

held that the regulation or statute in effect at the time of a claim (or request) will 

be held to be the operable one in the event the rules or regulations change 

during the pendency of the claim (see Karnas v. Derwinski (1991)). 

II. (6) Mr. Kris Holloway, petitioner’s former Vocational Rehabilitation Counselor 

(VRC) and petitioner last communicated on December 21, 2015. Mr. Holloway  

stated Mr. Boyd was the de facto VRC of record. Petitioner’s first communication 

with Mr. Boyd or Mr. Holloway after December 21, 2015 was March 22th, 2016 on 

a completely different ILP request unrelated to the greenhouse. 
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Petitioner remains mystified as to whom Mr. Boyd might have conducted 

“repeated consultations with” in the period from January 18th, 2016 through 

when petitioner first attempted to contact VR&E Officer Boyd  March 24th, 

2016(See Appendix- 1. Petitioner’s list of 31 emails to and from Petitioner and 

VR&E Seattle pages x-xi). 

Item II. (6) states further: “activities included extensive consultations with Mr. 

Graham”. At no time was Petitioner ever contacted about “specifications” until 

Petitioner’s query as to the proposed size of the greenhouse at the April 12th, 

2016 meeting to review and possibly sign the IILP Individualized Independent 

Living Plan (IILP Form 28-8872). Mr. Holloway did not have the proposed 

dimensions and said he had not been made aware of that decision yet. There 

were conflicting proposals about the duration of services. Most IILP plans run for 

two years. The proffered IILP proposal allowed for only a one-year supervision 

plan. Mr. Holloway reiterated he was not the VRC but merely the messenger for 

Mr. Boyd. As Mr. Boyd has not provided petitioner his curriculum vitae and 

educational achievements that show he qualifies as a Vocational Rehabilitation 

Counselor (VRC), it seems incongruous he can be the VRC of record. However, 

the April 12th, 2016 VA Form 28-8872 clearly and unmistakably lists Mr. Holloway 

as VRC. 

The first proposal mentioning the actual dimensions of the ILP greenhouse were 

not received by Petitioner until July 7th, 2016 (15 ft. X 20 ft.) and had no provision 

for hydroponics, rubber mats for fall protection or grow lights. This was in 

response to my third request for dimensions on July 6th, 2016. Please see Exhibit A 

attached. 

 Unfortunately, at no time prior to July 7th, 2016 was petitioner aware that VA 

VR&E personnel had not contacted Farmtek to assess their proposed plan or the 

reasons and rationale for their proposal. 

II.(7). states  “February 1, 2016,Seattle VRE requests assistance for specific size of 

the greenhouse based on recently received requests and bids from Mr. Graham 

for a 50’X100”[sic] greenhouse at $90,000.” 

At no time has petitioner submitted any such request. Petitioner has submitted 

one, and only one, request (see Appendix 2. Farmtek greenhouse bid-- page 

xxxiii). Up until this time, petitioner was laboring under the presumption that  
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Seattle VR&E was proceeding to take out bids on the Farmtek bid submitted on 

September 15th, 2015. No communications contradicting that assumption were 

ever received. In fact, no communications were received for four months. 

II. (10). Statement of Mr. Boyd neglects to mention the draft ILLP forwarded to 

Petitioner on March 25th, contained no Performance of Work statement (PWS) 

nor any Scope of Work statement. The proposal made no mention of any 

greenhouse dimensions whatsoever or inclusions of requested hydroponics and 

associated grow lighting. VA Form 28-8872 (page one) merely states in box 8A: 

“GSA contractor will construct ADA compliant greenhouse in accordance with 

requirement of FAR and VR&E guidelines.” 

II.(11). Contrary to the assertion that petitioner “refused to sign the IILP citing he 

wanted the duration of services to be two years instead of the one year 

duration of the plan”, petitioner cited to 38 CFR §21.94 (b)(2): 

(b) Long-range goals. A change in the statement of a long-range goal may only 

be made following a reevaluation of the veteran's rehabilitation program by the 

counseling psychologist. A change may be made when: 

(1) Achievement of the current goal(s) is no longer reasonably feasible; or 

(2) The veteran's circumstances have changed or new information has been 

developed which makes rehabilitation more likely if a different long-range goal 

is established; and 

(3) The veteran fully participates and concurs in the change. (emphasis 

petitioner’s) 

Mr. Holloway indicated at the April 12th, 2016 meeting that he felt there would be 

no objection on Mr. Boyd’s part for a two versus one-year rehabilitation plan. 

Petitioner informed Mr. Holloway his ratings had increased from 100% plus 40% 

(combined) to two (2) 100% schedulars and 90% (combined). These increased 

disabilities required development of a new plan encompassing the disabilities 

noted in the BVA Decision dated September 4th, 2015. Mr. Holloway said he 

would discuss these with Mr. Boyd and that was the last discussion on the subject  
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until the July 13th, 2016 meeting. Prior to the July 13th, 2016 meeting, petitioner 

has never met Mr. Boyd and only spoken to him twice in all of 2016 re email only. 

In fact, petitioner had only spoken once with Mr. Boyd briefly in May 2014 

regarding the VR&E SSOC dated May 7th, 2014. 

Solze Notification 

Petitioner wishes to comply with Solze requirements and inform the Court that 

subsequent to receipt of the truncated greenhouse proposal on July 7th, 2016, 

petitioner met as prearranged on July 13th, 2016 with Mr. Boyd, Mr. Holloway and 

Mr. Don Laford, Construction manager. Prior to this, on July 6th, petitioner asked 

for the fourth time for a copy of the proposed Scope of Work statement. See 

Exhibit A. 

Mr. Boyd claimed he was unacquainted with VA law 38 USC § 3107(c)(2)  or 

§21.92(a),(b) regulations concerning development, concurrence and/or 

disagreement with the proposed plan. His words, paraphrased  loosely, were: 

“Here’s the plan. Take it or leave it. I have to guard the funds of the US Treasury 

and the Veterans Administration against these unreasonable requests. So how 

can I comply with your request today? The BVA has ordered me to provide you 

with a heated, ADA-compliant structure to take the place of your current 

greenhouse. This 15’ X 20’ greenhouse complies in every way and is all I am 

required to provide. The BVA decision did not say how large it had to be. 

Besides, I don’t see you in a wheelchair today so I question just how disabled 

you really are and why we need to make this an ADA-compliant structure at 

all.”  

Petitioner would point out the Findings of Fact and Reasons and Bases of the 

September 4th, 2015 BVA decision fully appreciate the need for more extensive 

requirements than normal Vets due to the severe disabilities of record. 

Conversely, petitioner would also note the BVA Veterans Law Judge did not 

specify how small the greenhouse had to be, either. See 38 CFR §21.1609(a) (ILP 

services need to be appreciably more extensive for severely disabled Veterans). 
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Petitioner has continuously attempted over the last five years to point out the 

number and degree of severity of service connected disabilities has increased 

dramatically since the original request in May 2011. See Exhibit E SSOC Rebuttal 

resubmitted at BVA Travel Board hearing on April 29th, 2015. VA has been in 

constructive possession of petitioner’s medical records during the pendency of 

the appeal and is presumed cognizant of what ILP services were appropriate 

(see 38 CFR §21.90(b)(2): 

 (b) Elements of the plan. The IILP shall follow the same structure as the IWRP. The 

plan will include: 

(2) Utilization of programs with a demonstrated capacity to provide 

independent living services for severely handicapped persons; (Authority: 38 

U.S.C. 3104(b), §3120(a))(emphasis petitioner’s) 

 See also Bell v. Derwinski (1992) (VA is presumed to be in constructive possession 

of Veteran’s medical records). 

Petitioner is alarmed and appalled by the aggressive “my way or the highway” 

attitude of Seattle’s VR&E Officer. Mr. Boyd’s attitude and accompanying 45-

minute tirade was witnessed, and can be attested to, by fellow Veteran Mark 

Tolomei who was present for the greater part of the meeting. See Exhibit D. 

The professed tenets of VA’s credo of ICARE as espoused by VA Secretary 

MacDonald are at www.va.gov/icare: 

 I care about those who have served.  

I care about my fellow VA employees. 

I care about choosing “the harder right instead of the easier wrong.” 

I care about performing my duties to the very best of my abilities 

At no time did Mr. Boyd exhibit any of the above ideals but rather attempted to 

browbeat petitioner into signing the defective IILP through insults and threats. 

Failing to accomplish this, only then did Mr. Boyd attempt to appease petitioner 

saying he might entertain minor changes to fall protection, minor increase in the 

proposed size by 4 feet and a promise to “consider” hydroponic equipment.  
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Nothing concrete was ever arrived at as Mr. Boyd refused to commit to any 

changes absent petitioner signing immediately. Towards the end of the 

encounter, petitioner was confused as to what, exactly, was being offered and 

what was not. 

Mr. Boyd’s actions reflect poorly on the VA.  His adamant posture impermissibly 

marginalizes the scope of the interpretation of the BVA decision purely to the 

2011 initial request and pointedly ignores more recent medical developments. 

This made mutual concurrence impossible from the outset. His open derision of 

petitioner’s lack of a wheelchair for mobility on the July 13th, 2016 meeting is a 

determination medical in nature and thus out of his purview. See Colvin v. 

Derwinski (1991). Petitioner has “good days” as well as bad. The mere fact that 

mobility was possible on that date is not compelling proof of malingering as was 

insinuated. VA professes to espouse a nonadversarial, Veteran friendly 

environment of professionalism. Mr. Boyd exhibited none of these traits.  

Veterans seek the highest and best ratings and awards possible (see AB v. Brown 

(1993)). Petitioner submitted his list of disabilities to Farmtek’s  ILP coordinator 

and relied in good faith on her assessment of the needs and size of a proposed 

structure. Petitioner further assumed VA would take advantage of Farmtek’s vast 

store of gardening knowledge and craft a solution mutually amenable to all 

parties. The thought that VR&E personnel would not even consult with Farmtek 

or petitioner simply never crossed petitioner’s mind.  

Despite repeated requests to consult with Farmtek, Seattle’s VA VR&E Officer 

has steadfastly ignored the requests, substituted his limited knowledge of 

horticulture and attempted to knowingly create an IILP based on factually 

inaccurate and outdated data in violation of 38 CFR §21.90(b)(2). Bargaining 

with the Seattle VR&E Officer is akin to herding cats. 

Nevertheless, at the end of his lengthy diatribe, Mr. Boyd suddenly reversed 

course and said he was prepared to make concessions. This leaves petitioner in 

a quandary. If concessions are permissible, and the VR&E Officer is authorized to 

offer them (only after negotiations reach an impasse), why must the nascent IILP 

now be thrown out like the proverbial baby with the bath water rather than 

modified as permissible in 38 CFR §21.94(b(1, 2) or 38 USC §3107(c)? 
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Any potential modus vivendi offered by petitioner was derisively rejected at the 

July 13th, 2016 meeting and embarrassed the petitioner. The sum of the VR&E 

Officer’s myopic rationale was his obligation to obey as narrow an interpretation 

as could be distilled from the BVA decision based entirely on the original 2011 

request. Only at the very end of the forty five minute argument did the VR&E 

Officer concede he was willing to entertain an additional four feet onto the 

structure and add a few anemic lighting fixtures to ameliorate the low light 

conditions endemic to winter in the Northwest. Any discussion on hydroponics 

was “negotiable” at a later date. Petitioner became troubled that the VR&E 

officer was initially unbending until it was apparent petitioner could not be 

cowed into submission and sign such a flawed document. Petitioner remains 

willing to return to the table to mutually formulate an IILP that protects his health 

and affords him independence in everyday living with or without the help of 

others in the community in his avocational pursuits of gardening. However, 

petitioner is not willing to be the brunt of insults or cajoled into signing an 

agreement that only bolsters one VA employee’s misguided belief that resolving 

conflict can only be accomplished by threats and lastly, failing all else, belated 

enticement with added accouterments. 

 

Petitioner now once again finds himself facing another interminable delay in the 

delivery of services promised by the BVA decision-all for lack of the Secretary 

and his assigns to follow the statute and regulations pertinent to the mutual 

formulation of a VA IILP. The Seattle VR&E Officer insists petitioner’s refusal to 

agree to this document leaves him with no other alternative than to submit the 

IILP to the VR&E Central Office as an administrative review and ignores 38 USC 

§3107(c)(2), §21.92(a)(b) as well as  §21.80(a)(3) (Assuring the timeliness of 

assistance by Department of Veterans Affairs staff in providing services specified 

in the plan) See also 38 CFR §21.192(a). Continuing to ignore petitioner’s 

medical realities and attempting to foist on him an unworkable solution is 

contrary to the nonadversarial posture of VA. 

Given the  VR&E Officer’s self-admitted unfamiliarity with the controlling 

regulations abrogates the protections afforded under the Presumption of 

Regularity that VA officers are presumed to be knowledgeable in the  
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performance of their jobs. See Sickels v. Shinseki 643 F3d1365 (Fed. Cir. 2011).  

Similarly, Mathis v. McDonald 2015-7094 (Fed. Cir. April 1, 2016)is more recent 

and is on point: 

“The presumption of regularity, like the hearsay exception for business records in 

the Federal Rules of Evidence, has "at [its] root a showing that the [result] was 

the product of a consistent, reliable procedure." Posey v. Shinseki, 23 Vet. App. 

406, 410 (2010). Thus, the presumption should be predicated on evidence that 

gives us confidence that a particular procedure is carried out properly and 

yields reliable results in the ordinary course. As the Third Circuit has recognized, 

"[m]ost presumptions have come into existence primarily because judges have 

believed that proof of fact B renders the inference of the existence of fact A so 

probable that it is sensible and timesaving to assume the truth of fact A until the 

adversary disproves it." Malack v. BDO Seidman, LLP, 617 F.3d 743, 749 (3d Cir. 

2010) (quoting McCormick on Evidence § 343 (John W. Strong ed. 5th ed. 

1999)).” 

VR&E Officer Boyd baldly declared in item II. (6)  he had engaged in “repeated 

consultations” with petitioner but produces no evidence or email chains to 

confirm such. Mr. Boyd further, in the presence of petitioner’s friend and VRC 

Holloway, declared he was ignorant of the laws pertaining to mutual 

preparation of an IILP and wasn’t going to debate it as “he was in charge.” In II. 

(7), Mr. Boyd’s unfamiliarity with the IL plan includes the erroneous assertion that  

VR&E Seattle had received “requests and bids for “a 50’X100” [sic]greenhouse 

at $90,000”. Mr. Boyd’s patently incorrect statements are rebutted by the 

evidence of record. See also Exhibit B- Form 21-8872 dated 4/11/2016 rebutting 

Mr. Holloway’s contention that Mr. Boyd is the sole Vocational Rehabilitation 

Counselor of record in my IL plan. Please see also Exhibit C- my July 13th, 2016  

request for a review of the latest IILP first presented on July 7th, 2016 based on 

violation of  38 CFR §21.92(a)(1,2), (b),(1,2). I also include Exhibit D- a signed and 

notarized affidavit by Mr. Mark Tolomei that attests to the gist of the 

conversations held during the July 13th, 2016 meeting in my garden. 

Lastly, petitioner points to the September 4th, 2015 BVA decision of record that 

held, in the last paragraph of page 8: 
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“While the October 2012 VR&E Decision denying the Veteran's request for a 

greenhouse noted that he was able "perform the avocational activities involved 

in planting, producing and cultivating in [his] current agricultural activities," the 

evidence of record does not support this finding. October 2012 VR&E Decision. 

His current "greenhouse"-type structures do not allow him access during the day 

due to excessive sunlight and during cold weather, which he testified is frequent 

where he lives, as well as at times when he is unable to walk or stand. The 

Veteran has reported that an ADA-compliant greenhouse would give him more 

independence, presumably especially during the frequent times when he is at 

home alone. May 2014 Rebuttal to SSOC, pp. 4.” 

As VA had ample opportunity to rebut this finding after the SSOC was submitted 

on May 22nd, 2014, the Presumption of Regularity must attach to the Seattle 

VR&E Officer’s concurrence with petitioner’s contentions. Petitioner  points out 

this was almost a year prior to the BVA hearing of April 29th, 2015.  The hearing 

occurred shortly after the certification of the appeal (VA Form 8) dated 

2/27/2015 signed by C. Mackey-Rivas (Coach). See CAVC 15-112 ECF Docket 

run- March 2, 2015-Respondent's Response to Petition for Extraordinary Relief 

(MMM).  

Wherefore, Petitioner implores the Court to instruct the Secretary to bargain in 

good faith mutually, in accordance with 38 USC §3107(c)(2) and grant 

petitioner’s request for a greenhouse that complies most closely with 38 CFR 

§21.90(b)(2) and provides for the most equitable award (AB supra) comporting 

with the clear and unmistakable findings of fact of the September 4th, 2015 BVA 

decision. 

 

Respectfully submitted, 

Gordon A. Graham 

Petitioner, pro se 
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